## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-12-2012

# Armand v. Opportunity Management Co., Inc. Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 39445

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is a real property case involving (1) dedications of expressly labeled common areas upon a plat; (2) a subsequent re-plat over-lapping the original plat and obliterating said common areas following the sales of lots in the original plat; and (3) the common law dedication of a lake-front lot to the purchasers under the original plat. This matter was previously appealed, then remanded to District Court after this Court determined that the Appeal was premature, absent further action with regard to the surveys and locations of the easements. However, the issues raised and errors assigned to the District Court took place prior to the previous remand and appeal; thus, any and all references to the Record, Augmented Record, and/or Transcripts in this Brief are to those produced pursuant to 36557-2009, unless otherwise indicated. *See also* Order Taking Judicial Notice, on file herein.

This case is on appeal from the District Court's Memorandum Decision and Supplemental Memorandum Decision entered on June 22, 2007 (Augmented Record (Aug. R.) at 88–137) and July 22, 2008 (Aug. R. at 138–54) respectively, following a five-day court trial, which concluded on February 9, 2007, and a second court trial which concluded on May 29, 2008. The trial was conducted pursuant to a remand from this Court in its decision reported as *Armand v. Opportunity Management, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 709, 117 P.3d 123 (2005) (hereinafter "*Armand I*"), in which this Court held that (1) the Plaintiffs-Appellants (hereinafter "Appellants") had a valid interest in the areas expressly designated as "common areas" on the plat, *id.* at 714, 117 P.3d at 128; and (2) that genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether

or not a common-law dedication of the lot labeled as "Lot 10" on the Berven Bay Terrace ("BBT I") plat took place. *Id.* at 715, 117 P.3d at 129. Further, this Court held that the second plat, Berven Bay Terrace II ("BBT II") did not replace BBT I:

While Opportunity would like to have the BBT plat declared void so that the BBTII plat would take its place, there is no support for that in § 50-1309. Thus, the unilateral actions of subsequent property owners re-platting part of the property into BBTII has no effect on the validity of the BBT plat and those areas designated as common areas.

*Armand I*, 141 Idaho at 714, 117 P.3d at 128. As such, to the extent Appellants received property rights under BBT I and the areas dedicated therein, pursuant to said ruling from this Court that BBT II does not replace it, BBT II cannot serve to divest Appellants of said rights.

However, the District Court treated the language in *Armand I* relating to the express common areas as "dicta," and allowed the entire matter to be re-tried on a *de novo* basis. *See* Memorandum Decision (Aug. R. 97–98); (Transcript (Tr.) at 146, 150, 153, 225).

During the course of the trial, in light of the District Court's choice not to treat the Supreme Court's ruling relating to the express common areas as the "law of the case," Respondents introduced additional evidence raising new issues surrounding the original developer's ownership of the property upon which many of the express common areas lie, (R. *Passim*). Also, the District Judge made a visit to the site following the trial, incorporating many of his observations into his Decision. (Aug. R. at 123–28). Both of these actions played a large role in the District Court's decision on the express common areas, Memorandum Decision, *id.*, and the Respondents were able to introduce additional evidence which they failed to provide to the District Court upon their original Motion for Summary Judgment.

As such, the District Court misinterpreted the Supreme Court's ruling in *Armand I*, and failed to apply the "law of the case" upon remand. The District Court committed further error in holding that Appellants possess only an easement in Lot 10 for "lake access," a vague ruling which will likely result in further litigation; and visiting the site when it was not necessary "in determining the weight and applicability of the evidence." *Lobdell v. State Board of Highway Directors*, 89 Idaho 559, 568, 407 P.2d 135, 140 (1965). Following the second court trial in May of 2008, the Court held, without any regard to the intent of the grantor, that Appellants were only entitled to limited access across Lot 10. (Aug. R. at 138–54). Therefore, for the following reasons, Appellants request that this Court reverse and remand the issue to the District Court, with directions to enter judgment in favor of the Appellants.

#### **B.** Course of the Proceedings

The course of the proceedings prior to the initial Appeal in this matter are set forth in *Armand v. Opportunity Management, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 709, 117 P.3d 123 (2005) ("*Armand I*"), and are contained in the record therein. This appeal forms the latest chapter in a legal dispute which has been on-going for nearly ten years. On July 23, 2002, Appellants filed the Original Complaint which initiated this action. Appellants then filed their First Amended Complaint on December 4, 2002, prior to any of the Respondents filing an Answer. Finally, the Amended Complaint was answered by Respondents Schadel, Blanchette, Opportunity Management, and Felsing on January 10 and 24, and March 11, 2003, respectively.

On June 26, 2003, Respondents Felsing, Schadel, and Blanchette moved for Summary Judgment. Following Appellants' Reply and several Motions to Strike filed by Respondents, the District Court granted Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment on August 29, 2003, holding that: (1) the plat was invalid under Idaho Code § 50-1309 due to a lack of signatures; (2) that Appellants had no interest in the express common areas or Lot 10 on the Berven Bay Terrace plat; and (3) that Respondents were entitled to an award of fees and costs. It was from this Order granting Summary Judgment that the first appeal in this case was taken, and upon which the Idaho Supreme Court issued its decision in *Armand v. Opportunity Management, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 709, 117 P.3d 123 (2005) ("*Armand T*").

Following remand, the District Court stated its intent to treat all of statements from the Supreme Court relating to the express common areas as *dicta*, and would proceed to trial upon *all* of the various parcels of land which were in dispute. (Transcript (Tr.) at 146, 150, 153, 225).

A five-day court trial was conducted from February 5th through February 9, 2007. At the conclusion of the trial, the Court indicated that it would be conducting a subsequent visit to the site. The Court then issued its Memorandum Decision approximately four and one-half months later, on June 22, 2007. (Augmented Record (Aug. R.) at 88–137).

An additional trial was then held on the issue of the scope of the easement from about May 28, 2008 through May 29, 2008. After trial, the Court subsequently issued a Supplemental Memorandum Decision, which certified this matter for Appeal pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b). (R. at 82). Appellants Siegwarth then filed a Notice of Appeal initiating 36557-2009. However, following the submission of Appellants' Brief and an initial Denial of a Motion to Dismiss filed by Respondents, this Court re-considered its decision, and remanded for additional action. Following the surveys and adoption of the report of the Master/Surveyor, and

a Motion to Reconsider a part of an earlier District Court determination, final judgment was entered. From this final judgment Appellants now appeal, and raise a number of issues on appeal in this matter, set forth below and in the Notice of Appeal, on file herein.

#### C. Concise Statement of the Facts

The facts are recited in detail in the text of the Supreme Court's decision in *Armand I*. *Armand I*, 141 Idaho at 712–13, 117 P.3d at 126–27. However, for the sake of convenience of the Court and the other parties to this action, they will be briefly set forth as follows:

In the late 1970's, Michael Smith (hereinafter "Smith") was the owner of all the property at issue in this case. Smith had purchased the property, which was comprised of Lot 35 of Wright's Park subdivision, in 1979, with the intent of developing the property into the Berven Bay Terrace subdivision (hereinafter "BBTI"). In approximately 1984, during the course of developing the subdivision, Smith built two homes in the subdivision, which were eventually sold, with one of the homes being purchased by Mark Schafhausen (hereinafter "Schafhausen") and the other home purchased by Knute Eie (hereinafter "Eie"). In addition to these sales, several of the other lots in BBTI were sold to John Schafhausen, Sr, father of Mark Schafhausen. (hereinafter "J. Schafhausen"). (Exhibit (Ex.) 75.4).

Following the transfer from Smith to Eie, but before the transfer from Smith to Schafhausen, a document purporting to forfeit an option to purchase held by Smith in the land located in Section 7, Township 51 North, Range 3 West (hereinafter "Section 7"), in which most of the expressly labeled common areas are located, was recorded on June 15, 1984, over one month after it was executed. (Ex. W). However, Respondents have, to date, failed to produce

the actual Option to Purchase which the document seems to "forfeit," and the Optionors, Kermit and Katherine Petersen, did not object to the conveyances of the BBTI lots according to the plat which dedicated said common areas.

Prior to Schafhausen's purchase of Lot 2, he contacted Smith regarding the development and lake access via Lot 17 of the proposed BBTI plat (Lot 17 later re-designated as Lot 10 on the final BBTI plat (hereinafter "Lot 10")). (Tr. at 333-45); (Ex. 79.2). Smith informed Schafhausen that Lot 10 (which was clearly not able to be built upon, and which was previously part of a public right of way), would be designated as a common area and would provide lake access to all BBTI lot owners, who would own the lot jointly. Id. Smith envisioned Lot 10 as the cornerstone of his development, providing lake access, boat docks, swimming, a picnic area and general recreation to all lot owners (past and future) within the subdivision. (Tr. at 310). This not only enticed Schafhausen to buy Lot 2, but also enticed his father, J. Schafhausen, to buy Lots 3, 4 and 5. (Tr. at 349-50), Schafhausen's deed was recorded on July 3, 1984. (Ex. 7.4). J. Schafhausen's deed was recorded on July 2, 1984, and contained language granting to him and to all other owners within BBTI shared access to Lot 10 (and the other common areas). Id. (hereinafter "Schafhausen Deed"). During this time, the proposed BBI plat was circulating among county and city offices for approval. The proposed plat designated numerous common areas, including, but not limited to, Lot 10. (Ex. 79.2).

It was around the same time that Lot 1 was purchased by Eie. (Ex. 11.7). On September 7, 1984, BBTI was platted and recorded. (Ex. 79.2). The southern portion of the plat, comprising the majority of the land at issue, contained land that was formerly Lot 35 of Wrights

Park subdivision. *Id.* At that time, J. Schafhausen executed consent to the plat, but Schafhausen and Eie were not asked to do the same. (Ex. UU). (Mark Schafhauen would record a Consent to the plat in 1991 – Ex. VVVVV). The plat for BBTI dedicated certain areas as common areas to be owned by all lot owners jointly, and clearly shows a common area between Lots 9 and 11, as well as several common areas on the north side of the subdivision. (Ex. 79.2). The common area between Lots 9 and 11 is a corridor from a cul-de-sac to Lot 10, and provides the only access to Lot 10 from Lots 11 through 17. Lots 1-9 have direct access to Lot 10. The corridor also provides the only access to Lot 10 other than through private property. *Id.* This corridor was meant to provide access to Lot 10 for all owners in BBTI. *Id.* The J. Schafhausen deed made clear that Lot 10, which touches the common area between Lots 9 and 11 shown in the deed, was meant to be a common area providing lake access to all lot owners in the subdivision. *Id.*; (Ex. 75.4). The Schafhausen and Eie lots were now part of BBTI.

In 1990, Eie sold Lot 1 to Appellants Siegwarth and Schafhausen sold Lot 2 to Plaintiffs Armand. (Exs. 11.8 and 11.10). The Siegwarths' and Armands' title insurance policies each contained reference to the fact that Lot 10 had been deemed a common area for all owners of lots within BBTI. (Exs. 73.2 and 98.1). The Siegwarth and Armand Deeds each note that the Deed is subject to all encumbrances and easements of record, which would necessarily include the joint ownership of and the right in Lot 10, as evidenced in a document of record, the J. Schafhausen Deed. (Exs. 11.8 and 11.10). Following recordation of the BBTI plat, Smith's financial difficulties caused him to lose the remainder of the property, excluding Lots 1-5, which were owned by Schafhausen, J. Schafhausen and Eie, to Kermit D. and Katherine M. Petersen

and Donald H. and Violet Klages (hereinafter "Petersens" and "Klages"). (Ex. EE). The deeds to Petersens and Klages purported to convey <u>all</u> of Smith's original interest in the property, including the property which had already been sold to Schafhausen, J. Schafhausen and Eie, as well as all of the common areas. Essentially, the deeds transferred the entirety of Lot 35 of Wright's Park. *Id.* 

In the late 1980's Petersens, Klages and another family, Hedburg (herinafter "Hedburg") re-platted Lots 6-17 into larger lots, labeled Lots 1-8, in order to form Berven Bay Terrace Two (hereinafter "BBTII"). In this process, the former Lot 10 (previously Lot 17) became the new Lot 8. Other common areas were also subsumed in the replat. (Ex. 75.6). Specifically, a large part of the common area leading from Lakeview Drive along side Lots 3 through 6 and continuing into a cul-de-sac was subsumed. In addition, the entire common area along the north side of the development was subsumed. *Id.* These areas were clearly marked "common" and were jointly owned by all lot owners in BBTI, including Appellants. Neither Appellants, nor their predecessors consented to the replat. *Id.* 

In addition, BBTII subsumed Lot 10 into Lot 8, which was now purported to be owned entirely by the owners of Lots 1-7 in BBTII. Respondents continue to argue this point despite the fact that, in Respondents' best case scenario, J. Schafhausen and the subsequent owners of Lot 2 in the BBTI subdivision, Plaintiffs Armand, received an ownership and/or usufructuary interest the lot, and, in Respondents' worse case scenario, *all* of the Appellants received an ownership and/or usufructuary interest the lot. Furthermore, neither the Appellants, nor the Schafhausens, nor the Eies, ever signed off on the BBTII plat. *Id*.

Even after the platting and recording of BBTII, the Kootenai County recorder's office continued to note that the BBTI lot owners never conveyed their interests in the common areas to the BBTII lot owners. The recorder's office noted that the BBTI lot owners still jointly retained an interest in common areas that were now platted and recorded in BBTII.

In the early 1990's, Respondent Opportunity Management Company (hereinafter "Opportunity") and Larry Blankenship (hereinafter "Blankenship") purchased the property owned by the Petersens, Klages and Hedburg, which by now was platted and recorded as BBTII. Opportunity and Blankenship then sold portions of the property to Respondents Schadel (hereinafter "Schadel"), Respondents Blanchette (hereinafter "Blanchette") and Respondent Felsing (hereinafter "Felsing"). The deeds, and as title policies, from Opportunity and Blankenship to Blanchette, Felsing and Schadel all referenced the deed from Smith to Schafhausen, which specified that Lot 10 of BBTI was a common area available for use by all owners of lots in BBTI. The warranty deeds related to the property sales also contained language specifying that all of Lot 8 and part of Lot 6 of BBTII were common areas subject to an *undetermined undivided common interest*.

The Appellants and their predecessors in interest took ownership of their property and purchased the same based on their reliance on the documents of record at the time of purchase. *See, e.g.* (Tr. at 337). The documents of record gave notice that the property had lake access via the common areas. Idaho Code § 55-811. The Appellants and their predecessors in interest relied upon this in deciding to purchase the property at issue and in paying the purchase price for the property at issue, which was increased based on the lake access and ability to use the

common areas. (Tr. 349, 350, 353, 386-87, 388-90, 395-96). The Appellants and their predecessors in interest also paid property taxes on the common areas and were taxed as if their properties had lake access. (Tr. at 417-19). The Appellants and their predecessors in interest used the property at issue on a regular basis, open, notoriously and continuously for lake access and other purposes, from the moment of purchase, continuing until today.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Appellants present the following Issues on Appeal:

A. Whether the District Court erred in ruling that the language in *Armand I* concerning the expressly labeled common areas and the applicability of Idaho Code § 50-1309 was mere dicta, rather than establishing the "law of the case" and thus committed further error in allowing Respondents to present evidence at trial regarding the ownership of said common areas. Even if the District Court's determination on this issue was correct:

1. Whether the District Court erred in its determination that the dedication of the common areas located in Section 7 was ineffective.

2. Whether the District Court committed an error of law in interpreting the Sun Valley case to hold that a mortgagee of a mortgage recorded prior to the subdivision plat is not bound by the plat as recorded by the mortgagor.

3. Whether the District Court erred based on its interpretation of the Sun Valley case, given that the property was conveyed prior to the recordation of the plat and the recordation of the forfeiture of the property.

4. Whether the District Court erred in holding that Smith did not possess an ownership interest in Section 7 that would entitle him to convey this property.

5. Whether the District Court erred in its determination that the failure of the Section 7 dedications affected the Section 18 dedications, and whether it erred in using the value of Section 18 as the basis to make said determination.

6. Whether the District Court erred in holding that there was no evidence showing Appellants and/or their predecessors had previously utilized Section 7.

B. Whether the District Court erred in ruling that I.C. 50-1309 could be used against the Bervan Bay Terrace I plat while not considering its application to Bervan Bay Terrace II.

C. Whether the District Court committed an error of law in allowing Respondents to object to the Bervan Bay Terrace I plat in an untimely manner and/or on behalf of their predecessors in interest when their predecessors in interest did not object.

D. Whether the District Court's subsequent visit to the site constituted reversible error and whether District Court erred by bringing in its own factual evidence to support its legal conclusions.

E. Whether the District Court erred in its determination that the Appellants possessed only an easement in Lot 10 for "lake access," versus an ownership interest.

F. Even if Appellants' interest were an easement, whether the District Court erred in restricting the scope of the easement more narrowly than intended by the grantor, and by limiting the geography of the same based on conflict between the parties rather than the intent of the Grantor

G. Whether the District Court erred in its determination that the Appellants possessed an easement in Lot 10 for "lake access" versus an easement for recreational use and lake access.

H. Whether the District Court erred in failing to set forth the meaning of the term "lake access" when both parties requested the same in order to define the scope of the easement that the Court had determined existed, and further erred in refusing Appellants the right to present evidence at the continuation of trial related to their riparian, littoral or dock rights.

I. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that it could not determine the Grantor's intent based on the evidence in the record.

J. Whether the District Court erred in allowing a quitclaim to transfer of ownership when said quitclaim purported to transfer property which either no longer existed and/or purported to transfer property already owned by other persons — but did so without the consent of the persons who already had an ownership interest in said property.

K. Whether the District Court erred in finding that the plat of Bervan Bay Terrace II was a valid plat, despite the fact that it purported to subsume property already platted in a prior valid plat, without the consent of the owners of that plat.

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