Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-14-2012

Armand v. Opportunity Management Co., Inc. Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 39445

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

33. Respondents Blanchette, Schadel, and Felsing, provided evidence of title to the properties quieted to them in the Judgment. (Tr. pp. 640-643, 653; Exs. ZZ, YYY, CCC, DDD, EEE);

34. Until Respondents made improvements to Lot 8, BBT II, it was wild and unimproved. (Tr. pp. 364, ls. 4-15; pp. 506-507, 779-781, 791-792, 905-906);

35. Siegwarths produced no clear, satisfactory, and convincing evidence that they acquired title to Lot 10, BBT or any of Schadels', Blanchettes, or Felsings' properties; and

36. Siegwarths filed a claim on their title insurance policy for loss of their interest in the "common areas" of BBT I within BBT II and received a post-trial arbitration award in December 2007 for their "loss." (Tr. pp. 178-195).

II. ADDITIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Q. Whether the trial court properly granted and located easements to Cross-Respondents Armand and Siegwarth over Lot 8, Berven Bay Terrace II.

- **R.** Whether Siegwarths are judicially estopped from asserting claims to the "common areas" of Berven Bay Terrace I within Berven Bay Terrace II.
- S. Whether the Respondents are entitled to an award of their costs and fees pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rules 40 and 41, Idaho Code §§ 12-107 and 12-121.

III. ARGUMENT³

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

Most recently, this Court restated that a trial court's findings of fact are to be reviewed under a "clearly erroneous" standard. *Carpenter v. Turrell*, 148 Idaho 645, 648-49, 227 P.3d 575, 578-79 (2010). In doing so, this Court stated:

When a bench trial has been conducted, the court's findings of fact should not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. In determining whether a finding is clearly erroneous this Court does not weigh the evidence as the district court did. The Court inquires whether the findings of fact are supported by substantial and competent evidence. This Court will not substitute its view of the facts for the view of the district judge. Evidence is regarded as substantial if a reasonable trier of fact would accept it and rely upon it in determining whether a disputed point of fact had been proven.

Id., (citations omitted). This deferential standard of review is based upon the policy that "it is the province of the trier of fact to weigh conflicting evidence and testimony and to judge the credibility of witnesses." *Ervin Construction Co. v. Van Orden*, 125 Idaho 695, 699, 874 P.2d 506, 510 (1993). With this in mind, "the trial court's findings of fact will be liberally construed in favor of the judgment entered." *Id.* Accordingly, this Court has reminded our appellate courts not to substitute their view of the facts for that of the trial court. *Justad v. Ward*, 147 Idaho 509, 511, 211 P.3d 118, 120 (2009). In the absence of genuine issues of fact, strict questions of law are freely reviewed. *Carpenter*, 148 Idaho at 649, 227 P.3d at 579.

³ Respondents note that the Issues Presented on Appeal as outlined in Siegwarths' Brief does not match or track those issues addressed in the Argument section. For the sake of clarify, Respondents will address the issues raised by Siegwarths in the same order as they are addressed in their Argument Section.

on questions of fact. This Court's decision to reverse or affirm does not depend on whether Siegwarths can select evidence from the record that may support their positions on questions of fact. Rather, it was incumbent upon the Siegwarths to demonstrate that there was not substantial and competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's decision, or that the factual evidence before the trial court was so lacking in persuasive value that a "reasonable mind" could not accept that evidence "as adequate to support the district court's conclusions." For instance, in the trial court's memorandum decision, it carefully and painstakingly analyzed and discussed the conflicting evidence, and made findings based upon its consideration of all the facts. In their brief, Siegwarths merely point out conflicting evidence presented at trial, ask this Court to reweigh it, and then come to a different conclusion. The "Law of the Case" Doctrine did not Bar the Trial Court From Conducting a Β. Full Trial on the Merits. Siegwarths contend that Armand I conclusively established that they were vested with title to the "common areas" of the BBT I plat. Relying on the "law of the case doctrine," they assert the trial court committed error by ignoring this authority. These comments were not necessary to this Court's previous decision and therefore can only serve as dictum. Further, these comments were derived from an undeveloped factual record, and therefore should yield to the trial court's findings founded on a developed factual record.

The "law of the case" doctrine provides when "the Supreme Court, in deciding a case presented states in its opinion a principle or rule of law <u>necessary to the decision</u>, such pronouncement becomes the law of the case, and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the trial court and upon subsequent appeal. *Taylor v. Maile*, 146 Idaho 705, 709; 201 P.3d 1282, 1286 (2009) (emphasis added). The doctrine is only limited to the appellate court's legal pronouncements and holdings <u>necessary to decide the particular issue</u> presented. *See Suitts v. First Security Bank of Idaho, N.A.*, 110 Idaho 15, 21-22, 713 P.2d 1374, 1381-82 (1985). It is similar to the doctrine of stare decisis, which requires that a statement of law be necessary to the *ultimate disposition of the case* in order to be binding on the lower courts. *See Petersen v.*

Throughout Siegwarths' brief, they mischaracterize and misapply the standard of review

State, 87 Idaho 361, 393 P.2d 585 (1964); see also City of Weippe v. Yarno, 96 Idaho 319 528 P.2d 201 (1974). Statements of law which were not necessary to decide the particular issue are merely dictum.

This Court merely reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in *Armand I* in favor of the Respondents and then remanded this matter to the trial court for further proceedings - including a trial on the merits. As the record and transcript show, the trial produced many facts that were not in the record in *Armand I*.

In moving for summary judgment, I.R.C.P. 56 imposes no obligation that the movant present all its evidence in support of the motion. Rather, the moving party only bears the initial burden to show that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Losee v. Idaho Co.*, 148 Idaho 219, 222, 220 P.3d 575, 578 (2009). Consequently, moving parties rarely present every fact and theory upon which it may recover or defend. Further, the factual record is limited to verified pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits. I.R.C.P. 56(c) and (e). The record following summary judgment is rarely as developed as that produced following a full trial on the merits. *Cf. Ada County Highway Dist. v. Smith*, 113 Idaho 878, 881, 749 P.2d 497, 500 (Ct. App. 1988) ("The scope of the show cause hearing was limited. ... By upholding the present order we impose no limitations on the trial court to accept further evidence of needed changes or refinements as might be necessary to protect the rights of the parties. ..., the court may take such evidence, make further findings and orders as are necessary to finally resolve this dispute.").

Siegwarths attempt to invoke the "law of the case doctrine" in this instance is not consistent with controlling authority of this Court and other sister jurisdictions. In *Beymeyer v. Monarch*, this Court sustained application of the law of the case doctrine only <u>after</u> a retrial where additional evidence introduced at the second trial was insufficient to change the weight of the evidence presented to the Court in the first appeal. 23 Idaho 292, 129 P. 919 (1913). Similarly, other jurisdictions have held that "law of the case" doctrine on all issues decided throughout subsequent proceedings does not apply if essential facts or issues change, evidence substantially changes, error in first appeallate decision renders it manifestly erroneous or unjust, applicable law changes, the first decision is ambiguous or does not actually decide issues, or the

first decision is not on merits. *In re Eaton Enter. to Vacate Northwest 20th Street*, 65 P.3d 277 (Okla. 2003); *Bldg. Indus. Assn. v. City of Oceanside*, 33 Cal.Rptr.2d 137 (1994); *Dancing Sunshines Lounge v. Indus. Com'n of Arizona*, 149 Ariz. 480, 720 P.2d 81 (Ariz. 1986); *Star Rentals v. Seeberg Constr.*, 83 Or.App. 44, 730 P.2d 573 (1986). For these reasons, application of the doctrine is inappropriate in this case.

The substantial and significant factual record developed at trial dispatches any claim of dedication. Recently, this Court held that all owners of property within a subdivision plat must execute the dedication unless ratification by the non-signing owners can otherwise be demonstrated. *Saddlehorn Ranch Landowner's, Inc. v. Dyer*, 146 Idaho 747, 750-751, 203 P.3d 677, 679-680 (2009). More recently, this Court revisited the law of common law dedications. *Asbury Park, LLC v. Greenbriar Estate Homeowner's Ass'n, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 338, 271 P.3d 1194 (2012). In affirming the trial court's entry of summary judgment, the Court repeatedly stated that intent to dedicate must come from the "owners" of the land. *Asbury Park*, 271 P.3d at 1200-01.

In Armand I, this Court stated that:

Thus, the unilateral actions of subsequent property owners re-platting part of the property into BBTII has no effect on the validity of the BBT plat and those areas designated as common areas. Therefore, Armands have a valid interest in the areas that are expressly designated as common areas on the BBT plat.

Armand I, 141 Idaho at 714, 117 P.3d at 128. While the unilateral actions of subsequent property owners re-platting subdivided property may not have any affect on a valid subdivision plat, the lack of Smiths' title to all the property in the BBT I plat does and should have an effect on the validity of that plat. If this Court held that Smiths' failure to comply with Idaho Code § 50-1309 did not prevent Smiths from dedicating common areas, then whatever "valid interest" Armands acquired in the "common areas" designated in the plat must arise from common law dedications, which the Court remanded for determination at trial.

The fully developed factual record introduced at trial on remand disclosed no factual basis to support a common law dedication. Rather, the evidence is clear that the Klages and Petersens, the prior owners of the Section 7 property, did not sign the BBT I plat, and they never

executed deeds with reference to the BBT I plat or otherwise ratified the BBT I plat. For this simple and fundamental reason, the Siegwarths' complaint that the trial court erred in refusing to give effect to the law of the case is ill-placed. It is well established that the law favors the full adjudication of parties' disputes.⁴ Consequently, the trial court should not be faulted for adjudicating the parties' rights from a full and complete record, rather than blindly deferring to a putative "law of the case" premised on a limited and undeveloped factual record.

C. <u>Smiths' Dedication of "Common Areas" in the BBT I Plat Was Ineffective.</u>

The trial court's determination that Smiths' attempts to dedicate the land in Section 7 was defective was supported by substantial evidence. This can be readily demonstrated by the vast differences between the limited record before this Court in *Armand I* and the present trial record.

First Appeal	Trial Record
"In 1980, Michael and Gwen Smith were the owners of a large parcel of land near Hayden Lake, Idaho, described as Lot 35 of Wright's Park Addition. Smiths desired to develop the property into a subdivision called Berven Bay Terrace (BBT)." <i>Armand I.</i> , 141 Idaho at 712.	There is no evidence that the Smiths ever acquired title to the Section 7 property contained in the BBT I plat. (Tr. at pp. 876- 877; Exs. A-P, W). Smiths only held title to Lot 35 in the BBT I subdivision. - Section 7 contains the "statutory dedication" areas.
"Moreover, none of the lot owners within the plat at the time it was recorded have ever expressed any disagreement with the plat and in fact, fully supported the plat of BBT as it was recorded in 1984." <i>Armand I</i> , 141 Idaho at 714.	At the time the BBT I plat was recorded, Section 7 was owned by the Klages and Petersens. (Tr. at pp. 876-877; Exs. A-P, W). There no evidence of their agreement or support for the plat. Once Smiths' option lapsed and they received a deed of Smiths' remaining interest in Lot 35, they proceeded to replat the property as BBT II. (Ex. 75.6)

In Idaho, each owner desiring to create a subdivision must comply with the platting

requirements contained in chapter 13, title 50, Idaho Code. I.C. § 50-1302 provides:

Duty to file - <u>Every owner</u> creating a subdivision . . . shall cause . . . a plat made thereof which shall particularly and accurately describe and set forth all the

⁴ The trial court considered Siegwarths' "law of the case" argument on a number of occasions: in oral argument on motions for summary judgment (Tr. p. 130); in a written order denying summary judgment; and throughout its memorandum decision (Aug R. at 88-137).

streets, easements, public grounds, blocks, lots, and other essential information, and shall record said plat. This section is not intended to prevent the filing of other survey maps or plats...

(emphasis added). "Owner" is defined as "the proprietor of land, (having legal title)." I.C. § 50-1301(5). The BBT I plat was only executed by the Smiths. At no point in time have the Smiths held title to the Section 7 property described in the BBT I plat. (Tr. at pp. 876-877; 880-888). For that fundamental reason, the BBT I plat did not comply with Idaho Code § 50-1302.

Respondents urge this Court to revisit *Armand I* to the extent it stands for the proposition a common law dedication may be effective despite signatures from each of the affected lot owners. As discussed in *Armand I*, I.C. § 50-1309(1) requires that all landowners sign the plat to perfect a statutory dedication:

The <u>owner or owners of the land included in said plat **shall** make a certificate containing the correct legal description of the land, with the statement as to their intentions to include the same in the plat, <u>and</u> make a dedication of all public streets and rights-of-way shown on said plat, which certificate shall be acknowledged before an officer duly authorized to take acknowledgments and shall be indorsed on the plat.</u>

(Emphasis added). Because a dedication of land is the creation of an interest in land, it is essential that the dedicator have title to the dedicated property under either the statutory or common law dedication theories.

Siegwarths fail to appreciate that they did not properly meet their burden at trial and demonstrate a prima facie case of a common law dedication. As aptly noted in *Armand I*, common law dedication requires: (1) an **offer by the owner** clearly and unequivocally indicating an intent to dedicate the land and (2) an acceptance of the offer. *Armand I*, 141 Idaho at 714-715, 117 P.3d 128-129 (emphasis added). Since Smiths did **not** own the Section 7 property, it follows that they could not effectively dedicate common areas in the Section 7 portion of BBT I. *Ashbury Park*, (supra), *Saddlehorn Ranch Landowner's*, *Inc.*, (supra); *Farrell v. Board of Com'rs*, *Lemhi County*, 138 Idaho 378, 384-385, 64 P.3d 304, 310-311 (2002) (Miners had no ownership interest in the unreserved federal land. Therefore their petition for dedication and quitclaim deed

irrelevant.

did not create a valid common law dedication.) (Attorney fee application portion of decision overruled in *City of Osburn v. Randel*, 2012 WL 1434339 (Idaho Apr 26, 2012)).

To address the obvious shortfalls caused by Smiths' lack of title, Siegwarths attempt to analogize Smiths' optionee interest to that of a mortgagor⁵. This argument too, however, fails from both a legal and factual standpoint. A mortgagor has both a possessory and legal interest in the real property that is mortgaged. Title is "of record" and held by the mortgagee, subject to the terms of the mortgage. An optionee, however, acquires no interest in the real property until the option is exercised. *Ingle v. Perkins*, 95 Idaho 416, 510 P.2d 480 (1973); *Sutheimur v Stoltenbert* 127 Idaho 81, 85, 896 P.2d 989, 993 (Ct App. 1995). *Chain O'Mines, Inc. v. Williamson et al.*, 101 Colo. 231, 72 P.2d 265 (1937). An option is merely an offer, and does not convey to, nor invest in, the optionee a present estate in the land, until it is exercised. *Groth v. Continental Oil Company*, 84 Idaho 409, 373 P.2d 548 (1962).

The trial court properly found Smiths' option was not of record, nor was there any evidence that it was ever exercised. (Exs. W, 79.5) Additionally, evidence was introduced that the option was forfeited, and the Smiths and Larry Anderson subsequently quitclaimed any interest in the real property to Klages and Petersens. (Exs. DD, 79.4 and 79.5). Thus, Siegwarths' extensive argument that mortgagors can dedicate mortgaged real property must be rejected as irrelevant.

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